IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

047
FILED
DEBBIE CAUSSEAU

SEP 23 1999 10/18

CLERK, SUPREME COURT
By _____

THE FLORIDA BAR,

Complainant,

Case No. 94,561

v.

TFB File No. 99-00425-4A

ROBERT PETER MCKEEVER, JR.,

Respondent.

INITIAL BRIEF

James N. Watson, Jr., Bar Counsel
The Florida Bar
650 Apalachee Parkway
Tallahassee, Florida 32399-2300
(850) 561-5845
Florida Bar No. 144587

John Anthony Boggs, Staff Counsel
The Florida Bar
650 Apalachee Parkway
Tallahassee, Florida 32399-2300
(850) 561-5600
Florida Bar No. 253847

John F. Harkness, Jr.
Executive Director
The Florida Bar
650 Apalachee Parkway
Tallahassee, Florida 32399-2300
(850) 561-5600
Florida Bar No. 123390

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Appellant, **Robert Peter McKeever, Jr.**, will be referred to as Respondent, or as Mr. McKeever throughout this brief. The appellee, **The Florida Bar**, will be referred to as such, or as the Bar.

References to the Report of Referee shall be by the symbol **RR** followed by the appropriate page number.

References to the transcript of the hearing before the Referee on May 11, 1999, shall be by the symbol **TR** followed by the appropriate page number.

References to specific pleadings will be made by title.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Respondent was arrested and charged with sixteen felony charges in June of 1997. On April 17, 1998, Respondent entered a guilty plea to five counts of aggravated child abuse in violation of Section 827.03(2), Florida Statutes. Respondent was sentenced to a term of six years imprisonment followed by eight (8) years on probation to run concurrent for each count to which he pled guilty. As a result of his conviction, Respondent was suspended from the Bar on July 14, 1998, pursuant to Rule 3-7.2(e) of the Rules of Discipline of The Florida Bar. Subsequent to Respondent's suspension, a formal complaint was filed by the Bar based upon Respondent's convictions.

As set forth in the criminal information, Respondent admitted to the following acts contained in Counts 3, 5, 6, 11 and 16 in Case No. 97-6329-CF-A, Circuit Court, Fourth Judicial Circuit:

Count 3 - Between the dates of May 9 and May 10, 1997, Respondent bound and blindfolded A B a person under the age of 18, and beat his naked body with a strap.

Count 5 - On May 16, 1997, Respondent bound and blindfolded A B , a person under the age of 18, and beat him about his naked body with a strap.

Count 6 - On or between February 1 and March 22, 1997, Respondent bound and blindfolded C L , a person under the age of 18, and beat him about his naked body with a strap.

Count 11 - On or between January 1 and March 22, 1997, Respondent bound and blindfolded J W , a person under the age of 18, and beat him about his naked body with a strap.

Count 16 - On or between May 9 and May 10, 1997, Respondent bound and blindfolded J W , a person under the age of 18, and beat him about his naked body with a strap.

The beatings administered by Respondent were videotaped (TR 19) and the acts of binding the victims and undressing them was without parental knowledge (TR 19).

Respondent was matched to one of the victims through the Big Brothers Program while the others were friends of the first (Respondent's Trial Brief, pg. 2).

The formal complaint was referred to Judge Edwin P. B. Sanders, Circuit Judge, as Referee. A formal hearing was held May 11, 1999. On June 10, 1999, the Referee filed a Report of Referee wherein the Referee found Respondent guilty of violating Rule 3-4.3 of the Rules of Discipline of The Florida Bar and Rule 4-8.4(b) of the Rules of Professional Conduct of The Florida Bar, and recommended Respondent be suspended indefinitely until Respondent pays the costs assessed, regains his civil rights and shows proof of rehabilitation.

A Petition for Review was filed August 25, 1999.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The actions of Respondent in regards to his criminal misconduct against the minors over which he had custodial control requires Respondent be disbarred.

The Referee's reliance upon certain mitigating factors was in error in light of statements made by Respondent in his pleadings and while testifying at the final hearing.

Respondent argues that he is remorseful for what he did to his charges but continues to argue that what he did was not criminal conduct, was justified by the conduct of the minors involved, and such actions are acceptable in other societies. In light of such statements, any argument that Respondent is truly remorseful must fail.

The appropriate discipline in this matter should be disbarment. The mitigating factors argued by Respondent, at most, would allow only that any disbarment relate back in time to his felony suspension.

ARGUMENT

I. RESPONDENT'S MISCONDUCT WARRANTS DISBARMENT

The Florida Bar believes that the Referee's recommendation was in error. This court has stated that it is not bound by the Referee's recommendations for discipline. The Florida Bar v. Weaver, 356 So. 2d 797 (Fla. 1978). Accordingly, this Court has imposed greater discipline than that recommended by Referees when deemed appropriate. The Florida Bar v. Wilson, 425 So. 2d 2 (Fla. 1983); The Florida Bar v. Shapiro, 413 So. 2d 1184 (Fla. 1982).

In the Referee's Report, the Referee references Respondent's plea of guilty to five counts of Aggravated Child Abuse and his receiving five concurrent terms of six (6) years in prison followed by a period of eight (8) years probation. Nowhere is there a reference to the actual facts which serve as a basis for the charges against Respondent.

As set forth in the criminal information and the counts to which Respondent pled guilty, during the period from January 1, 1997, through May 15, 1997 – a period of four and one-half (4½) months – Respondent engaged in a premeditated plan of assaults on three (3) boys under the age of eighteen (18) that involved

stripping the young men naked, blindfolding them, binding their hands and beating them with a strap all the while videotaping his actions (TR 19).

This Court has established that the purpose of any discipline against a lawyer is as follows:

The judgment must be fair to society, both in terms of protecting the public from unethical conduct and, at the same time, not denying the public the services of a qualified attorney. The judgment must be faire to the Respondent, being sufficient to punish a breach of ethics and, at the same time, encourage reformation and rehabilitation. And the judgment must be severe enough to deter others from similar violations.

The Florida Bar v. Dubbeld, 594 So. 2d 735 (Fla. 1992).

Under the guidelines contained in Florida Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions, Section 5.11(a), holds that disbarment is appropriate when a lawyer is convicted of a felony under applicable law.

In The Florida Bar v. Corbin, 540 So. 2d (Fla. 1989), this Court held that a felony does not itself mandate disbarment but there is a presumption of disbarment which must be overcome. This has been echoed in other cases where this Court has held that although disbarment is presumed to be the appropriate sanction upon the conviction of a felony, it is not automatic. The Florida Bar v. Graef, 701 So. 2d 555 (Fla. 1997) and The Florida Bar v. Bustamante, 662 So. 2d 687 (Fla. 1995).

In recommending a suspension, the Referee merely stated that the Respondent had overcome the presumption that disbarment is the appropriate discipline for his felony convictions. The Referee cites to several aggravating and mitigating circumstances.

A closer look and examination of the findings of the Referee, in light of the positions still taken by Respondent, show that the recommendation of a suspension is in error.

At the hearing, Respondent still testified that what he did was not criminal (TR 19). This belies his legal training and the fact he pled guilty to five (5) felony charges. Respondent further stated that he did not think what he was doing was wrong but that it was private and gave no thought to the fact that his actions might be criminal (TR 34).

Even after having been arrested and charged with multiple felonies, Respondent again ignored his legal training by violating a court order not to attempt to have contact with any of the victims. This resulted in having his bond revoked (TR 37, 38).

The Referee found that Respondent has demonstrated remorse for his misconduct. The Bar would respectfully take exception to such a finding. During the final hearing, the Respondent addressed his actions against the three (3) boys and still argues that it was justified and acceptable.

Respondent likens what he did to what was done to a teenager in Singapore for vandalizing cars (TR 66). Respondent goes on to say that the disciplinary history of these children under his control justified what he did to them (TR 67).

What transpired with the boy in Singapore was the law of a sovereign nation and was a governmental decision. In this instance, Respondent took it upon himself to be judge, jury and disciplinarian while ignoring his training as a lawyer. He hid the total extent of what he was doing from the parents of the children because he knew it was wrong and they would not approve (TR 33, 34).

Respondent continues to argue that, but for the culture in America at this time, his actions would have been appropriate and that he is probably the only person now serving six (6) years in prison for aggravated child abuse where the victims are not even arguably hurt (TR 67).

Prior to the hearing, Respondent submitted a trial brief to the Referee wherein he argued that "upon receiving the consent of the mothers and the juveniles themselves, the Respondent disciplined the teenagers in a manner made popular by certain foreign governments" (Respondent's Trial Brief, pg. 3). Upon cross-examination, the Respondent admitted that he had not fully informed the victims' mothers of the full extent of the

discipline because he knew they would not have permitted this (TR 33).

The actions of Respondent, in trying to still justify his beating and humiliating the boys he has expressed love and concern for, demonstrates his remorse is more for the fact that he is serving six (6) years in prison than for having acted inappropriately as a member of The Florida Bar.

While the Referee herein does not specifically cite to any particular reason for finding Respondent has overcome the presumption of disbarment for his felonious conduct, several mitigating factors are listed. Generally, these factors as listed are found in the Florida Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions.

The Referee cites Respondent has acknowledged an alcohol abuse problem, marital problems and disabling back pain from a helicopter accident. (RR 3, 4(c) and (e)).

In The Florida Bar v. Horowitz, 697 So. 2d 78 (Fla. 1997), this Court was asked to reduce a recommendation for disbarment based upon the Respondent's mitigation of mental depression. In Horowitz, the Referee commented on the issue of Respondent's mental state and his testimony on how this influenced his conduct. The Referee correctly pointed out that no evidence was submitted to substantiate such statements or to show improvement of his mental state. This Court held that such evidence may be

used to explain such behavior but does not excuse it. Horowitz, p. 84.

A review of the instant record would show that the only mention of any mental problems suffered by the Respondent was contained in his unsworn trial brief. Respondent briefly refers to stress resulting from marital problems over his involvement with the victims. While his wife was present at the hearing, Respondent chose not to have her testify as to any such facts. A brief mention was made of an alcohol abuse problem, but there is no testimony as to how severe this problem was or for how long he suffered from it. There was no allegation that the beatings given to these boys were administered while he was under the influence of alcohol.

Respondent also has put a great deal of emphasis on his military record and his history of flying helicopters. Such accomplishments fly in the face of someone now asking this Court to mitigate the appropriate discipline due to alcohol abuse.

Respondent failed to present medical testimony as to his mental problems or alcohol abuse. As in Horowitz, the Court cannot consider what is not in the record.

Where this Court has given weight to the effects of marital problems and alcohol abuse, there has been testimony by others, either lay or expert witnesses, as to the effect of the problems on the conduct of the lawyer. The Florida Bar v. Poplack, 599

So. 2d 116, 117 (Fla. 1992). This Court has likewise rejected a Referee's findings of rehabilitation efforts in mitigation where no evidence was presented. The Florida Bar v. Bobbeld, 594 So. 2d 735, 737 (Fla. 1992).

In The Florida Bar v. Larkin, 420 So. 2d 1080, 81 (Fla. 1982), the Court held that where alcoholism is the underlying cause of professional misconduct and the individual is willing to cooperate in seeking rehabilitation, we should take these circumstances into account in determining the proper discipline.

In the instant matter, there is no evidence before the Court to establish that Respondent's alcohol problem was the underlying cause for his misconduct. As such, this citing of such by the Referee, as reason to mitigate the appropriate discipline for five (5) felony convictions, was in error.

Respondent also argued that this conduct was not related to the practice of law or to any of his clients (TR 29). The Referee also cited that Respondent violated not duty or trust to a client (RR 3(a)). At the hearing, Respondent testified that he had represented the victims and their mothers in a legal capacity. He argues that on one hand he should not be punished as severely because the victims were not clients and his conduct was not in the practice of law; but, on the other hand, he is quick to point out how he used his legal training to help and assist the victims and their mothers.

The Referee has also cited in mitigation that Respondent is suffering from disabling back pain (RR 4(e)). There is no testimony as to how this pain played any role in the criminal acts of the Respondent against the victims. There was no evidence independently establishing such pain or how it affected Respondent and its involvement in the misconduct. Such a finding by the Referee that this was a mitigating factor must be disallowed.

The Referee has also cited the absence of a selfish motive as mitigation and Respondent has argued the same in his trial brief. This Court has held that selfish motivation is not limited to motivation for financial gain. The Florida Bar v. Helinger, 620 So. 2d 993 (Fla. 1993). In Helinger, the Court held that self gratification could be seen as a selfish gain. In this instance, Respondent stated in his trial brief that he was having marital problems over his lack of disciplining the victims (Respondent's Trial Brief, pgs. 7, 8). Respondent goes on to state that he took these particular actions to demonstrate to his wife a more aggressive response to their behavior. The purpose of these actions was accomplished in that Respondent and his wife reconciled for a brief time. Under the holding of Helinger, the actions by Respondent can be seen to have been for a selfish motive and a finding that there was a lack thereof as mitigation is in error.

Looking at the Report of the Referee under "factors," the Referee is seen to establish that in subsection (c), pg. 3, of his report that there was no injury to the victims. This belies the fact that Respondent pled guilty to five felonies that as a part of their charge states on the particular dates Respondent undertook certain acts that caused injury. He cannot now come before this Court and ask to be heard that there was no harm or injury inflicted upon these victims.

Under aggravation, the Referee did find that Respondent had substantial experience in the practice of law but tempered this finding by stating that the conduct was outside the practice of law. Respondent's tenure as a lawyer should have provided him with the knowledge that to blindfold, bind and beat someone had to be a criminal violation. The fact that the conduct did not involve a fee paying client or involved legal proceedings should not reduce the effect of this aggravating factor.

While it is true that Respondent is currently serving five (5) concurrent six-year prison terms, this Court has held that in a case resulting from a criminal conviction, discipline is imposed in addition to the criminal penalty. The Florida Bar v. Helinger, 620 So. 2d 993, 996 (Fla. 1993).

A review of the factors considered and the mitigation factors listed by the Referee shows that only the existence of no prior discipline and Respondent's character are left fully

supported. The remaining mitigation is not fully supported by the record and cannot be relied upon to overcome the presumption of disbarment as the appropriate discipline for Respondent's convictions. The Bar would argue that the Court's holdings in The Florida Bar v. Forbes, 596 So. 2d 105 (Fla. 1992), and The Florida Bar v. Graef, 701 So. 2d 555 (Fla. 1997), are persuasive in this matter in that what mitigation remains should only allow for Respondent's disbarment to begin on the date of his felony suspension of August 14, 1998.

CONCLUSION

A review of the record below fails to support the majority of mitigating factors cited by the Referee. Respondent's actions, after pleading guilty to the five (5) felony charges of aggravated child abuse, do not demonstrate a level of remorse for his misconduct that would mitigate the presumption of disbarment.