Original

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED  
DEBBE CAUSSEAUX

OCT 08 1999

CLERK, SUPREME COURT  
By \_\_\_\_\_

THE FLORIDA BAR,  
Complainant/Appellant,

V.

ROBERT P. McKEEVER, Jr.,  
Respondent/Appellee.

---

Case No.:94, 561

TFB File No.:99-00425-4A

ANSWER BRIEF

Robert Peter McKeever, Jr., pro se  
Respondent/Appellee  
J07771/M1107  
Okaloosa Correctional Inst.  
3189 Little Silver Road  
Crestview, Florida 32539-6708

CERTIFICATE OF TYPE, SIZE AND STYLE

Undersigned Respondent/Appellee does hereby certify that the Answer Brief of the Respondent/Appellant is submitted in 12 point Courier New, a font that is not proportionately spaced.

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

### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The appellant has failed to overcome the strong presumption that the Referee's recommended discipline calling for suspension was correct. They have failed to demonstrate that the Referee's recommendation is not supported by existing case law or "clearly off the mark".

The Appellant has not cited a single case with similar circumstances in which the Supreme Court disbarred the attorney. To the contrary, those cases arguably similar resulted in the lawyer's suspension. Every case cited by the Appellant supporting disbarment is distinguishable from the instant case. Invariably, they involved multiple disciplinary offenses, were arguably related to the practice of law, or involved fraud, misrepresentation or conspiracy for the purpose of financial gain.

It was within the province of the Referee to weigh the sufficiency of the evidence in mitigation. He was in a unique position to observe the demeanor of the witnesses and evaluate the character of the Appellee. He had the opportunity to determine first-hand the potential for rehabilitation of the attorney.

Disbarment is the ultimate penalty inflicted upon a lawyer reserved for those whose character should never have permitted

them entry to the Bar, or who have a highly improbable potential for rehabilitation. The criminal acts of the Appellee were an isolated occurrence and do not reflect his true character. His potential for rehabilitation does not fit the description of highly improbable, but to the contrary, is excellent.

## ARGUMENT

I. COMPLAINANT/APPELLANT HAS FAILED TO OVERCOME THE STRONG PRESUMPTION THAT THE REFEREE'S RECOMMENDATION IMPOSING SUSPENSION IS CORRECT.

The Appellant has failed to overcome the strong presumption that the Referee's recommended discipline is correct under the facts of this case. The Referee's report in an attorney disciplinary case carries a strong presumption of correctness. The Florida Bar v. Wheeler, 653 So.2d 391 (Fla. 1995). The burden is on the party seeking review to demonstrate that the report of the referee is erroneous, unlawful, or unjustified. R. Regulating Fla. Bar 3-7.7(c)(5). The referee's recommended discipline is presumptively correct and will not be disturbed absent a showing that it is clearly erroneous and not supported by the evidence. The Florida Bar v. Orta, 689 So.2d 270, 273 (Fla. 1997) citing The Florida Bar v. Niles, 644 So.2d 504, 507 (Fla. 1994).

Although the Appellant correctly points out that the Court is not bound by the referee's recommended discipline, they neglect to recite the proper standard of review. The role of the court in reviewing the referee's recommended discipline is not to second-guess his judgment. The Florida Bar v. Jordan, 705 So.2d 1387, 1391 (Fla. 1998). The referee's recommendation is presumed correct and will be followed if reasonably supported by existing case law and not "clearly off the mark" The Florida Bar v.

Fredericks, 731 So.2d 1249, 1254 (Fla. 1999), citing The Florida Bar v. Vining, 707 So.2d 670, 673 (Fla. 1998). The Court has frequently required a showing that the referee's disciplinary recommendation is in conflict with existing case law, before overturning it. The Florida Bar v. Lecznar, 690 So.2d 1284, 1288 (Fla. 1997); The Florida Bar v. Corbin, 701 So.2d 334, 337 (Fla. 1997).

The Appellant's brief fails to cite a single case that does not support the Referee's recommendation in his report, much less one in conflict with it. To the contrary, the cases most analagous to the present fact situation appear to endorse the result reached by the referee. Appellee's research has failed to disclose any case, arguably similar to this one, in which the lawyer was disbarred for a first time felony conviction wholly and totally unrelated to the practice of law. Invariably, the court has rejected the Bar's demand for disbarment and instead, ordered suspension:

This Court refused to disbar Judge Corbin after he pled no contest to a charge involving child molestation. The Florida Bar v. Corbin, 540 So.2d 105 (Fla. 1989). The record fails to reflect the age of the child, other than she was between twelve and sixteen. He was subsequently reinstated and continues to practice law.

This Court refused to disbar James Helinger for making obscene phone calls, his second conviction for this offense. The Florida Bar v. Helinger, 620 So.2d 993 (Fla. 1993). This was notwithstanding the fact that Helinger subjected his victim to extreme psychological and emotional trauma resulting from a continuous barrage of terror lasting nearly five years. Id. at 996.

Joseph Hooper was suspended after having been convicted of indecent exposure while on probation for two previous episodes of the same criminal misconduct. The Florida Bar v. Hooper, 564 So.2d 1080 (Fla. 1990).

Finally, this Court ordered a suspension for Howard Rosen after his conviction for knowingly and intentionally possessing cocaine with the intent to distribute. The Florida Bar v. Rosen, 495 So.2d 180 (Fla. 1986). This result was reached even though the Bar argued this was a serious felony. id. at 181. The Court agreed with the referee that, under the facts of that case, disbarment was too harsh. id. at 182.

The Appellant's reliance on The Florida Bar v. Bustamante, 662 So.2d 687 (Fla. 1995), The Florida Bar v. Grief, 701 So.2d 555 (Fla. 1999) and The Florida Bar v. Forbes, 596 So.2d 1051, (Fla. 1992) is misplaced. All three involved, at least arguably, the practice of law. All three involved fraud, misrepresentation

or conspiracy engaged in by the lawyer for his own financial benefit. All three utilized their status as lawyers to deceive banks or investors to enter into fraudulent financial schemes.

Bustamante embezzled funds from a client. Bustamante at 689. Grief took money from illegal aliens to file false immigration documents, presumably holding himself out as an immigration lawyer. He accompanied applicants to immigration hearings after coaching them with false answers. Grief at 555. Forbes, in addition to being charged with fraud and misrepresentation, was guilty of knowingly assisting and inducing others to engage in fraud. Forbes at 1052. These cases are clearly distinguishable from the instant case.

In the absence of any case law supporting their position, the appellant has elected to attack the Referee's findings regarding mitigation. They argue the appellee's remorse is not genuine, or they belittle his character, partially evidenced by his lengthy military career. They strain credulity by arguing the juveniles or their mothers were his clients for the purpose of these proceedings. In the pleadings, they specifically denied they were clients of the appellee. (RA #4). They allege he has inadequately proven his personal or emotional problems or has failed to document his efforts at rehabilitation.

The problem with this line of reasoning is that all these



arguments speak to the weight of the evidence in mitigation. Disbarment is appropriate only in the absence of mitigation:

"absent aggravating or mitigating circumstances, and upon the application of the factors set out in Standard 3.0, the following sanctions are generally appropriate". Fla. Stds. Imposing Law. Sanc. 5.1. There is no authority for the proposition that all the mitigating factors must be present or they be proven beyond doubt. Surely, the Appellant would acknowledge the existence of some mitigating factors.

It is within the province of the referee to assign what weight will be given to each mitigating and aggravating factor and his threshold of proof. Recognition of the existence of mitigating factors is a "finding" of the referee. These findings are presumed correct unless they are clearly erroneous. Bustamante at 698. A party contesting the findings of the referee carries the burden of demonstrating that there is no evidence in the record to support those findings or that the record clearly contradicts the conclusions. The Florida Bar v. Laing, 695 So.2d 299, 303 (Fla. 1997).

This Court has repeatedly held that the referee occupies a favored vantage point for assessing the key considerations such as a respondent's degree of culpability and his or her cooperation, forthrightness, remorse and rehabilitation (or

potential for rehabilitation) Lecznar at 1288. The referee has an opportunity to view first-hand the forthrightness and character of the respondent. Id. at 1287.

In assigning error to the Referee's findings, the appellant is asking the Court to second-guess the Referee, who heard the testimony and observed the witnesses. This Court has invariably declined to reweigh the evidence and substitute it's judgment for that of the referee. The Florida Bar v. Bosse, 689 So.2d 268, 269 (Fla. 1997). In matters of mitigation such as remorse, character, potential for rehabilitation and personal issues, this principle appears especially sound.

Keeping these points in mind, the appellee will now address specifically some of those factors the Appellant took issue with in their brief.

The Appellant goes on at length regarding what they perceive to be a lack of remorse on the part of the Appellee. The Referee heard the same testimony and thought otherwise. Quite possibly the Appellant believes the facts of the underlying criminal case warrant no further explanation. They appear to interpret the appellee's recitation of the actual facts behind the incident as indicative of a lack of remorse. They would prefer to allow the Court to assume these acts were a mere pretense for a far more sinister motive than discipline. The Appellee will not stand idly

by without responding to that. An attorney is entitled to explain the circumstances behind the offense and offer testimony in mitigation. The Florida Bar v. Cruz, 490 So.2d 48, 49 (Fla. 1986).

It was the Appellant who elected to attach to their petition the entire sixteen count information, clearly intending to alert the referee of the unsubstantiated charges. They knew a mere copy of the judgment of conviction would not accomplish this purpose. Aggravated Child Abuse is certainly serious enough, but child sexual abuse is another matter entirely. The Appellee was not, is not, and never will be a child sexual offender.

As to the charge for which he was convicted, the facts giving rise to such encompass a broad spectrum, with varying degrees of culpability. Reasonable people may differ on what crosses the threshold into malicious punishment.

Suffice it to say that the Appellee acknowledges these juveniles were subjected to punishment that was painful and humiliating, but not injurious. In the ten years the Appellee served as a "Big Brother" mentoring two other boys, he never engaged in similar behavior. For that matter, in the five years leading up to the events of 1997, he never engaged in similar behavior with these three juveniles. It is important to recognize the teenagers never alleged they were ever sexually or physically

abused by the appellee, to include this incident.

At the risk of continuously sounding unremorseful, the Appellee would be remiss not to call attention to the fact that these juveniles were not arguably injured or harmed under any interpretation of §39.01(30)(a)(4)(a-k) Fla. Stat. (1997)(Definitions under abuse of children). They sought no medical attention as a result of these incidents. For that matter, they waited four days before they reported this allegation to the police (TB Page 3). During that period they attempted to extort the absurd sum of 12 million dollars from the Appellee. Unsuccessful at that, they hired television lawyers to represent them before they went to the police. (TB Page 4).

The pain inflicted upon them was not serious enough to prevent them from riding the Appellee's motorcycles twelve miles home, then all weekend, after they were "beaten". (TB Page 4). No party has ever claimed they suffered a mental injury within the meaning of §39.01(44) Fla. Stat. (1997). Their post-incident conduct would appear to contradict this assertion, anyway.

Addressing the bond revocation issue, the Referee appeared to give it little weight in view of the circumstances. Suffice it to say that the appellee's \$150,000 bond conditions required him to have no direct contact with the alleged victims and he had no such contact. The State did not dispute the appellee never saw,

spoke to, or was seen by the juvenile. At worst, the Appellee inquired regarding his whereabouts. The trial judge subsequently recused himself due to his personal relationship with one of the witnesses. His ruling was on appeal when a plea was reached.

The Appellant claims the explanation for the manner in which the discipline was inflicted is an attempt on the part of the Appellee to justify it. It is true, the evidence discloses the teenagers and the Appellee did discuss the Michael Faye incident in Singapore. In both Singapore and Malaysia, teenage juvenile delinquents are subjected to identical discipline (albeit much harsher and for more injurious) and a record is made of that to be shown to other teenagers as a deterrent. Although this approach was overwhelmingly supported by the American people, it is unknown if that was due to it being inflicted at the hands of government. Under the laws of Florida, when inflicted by an individual, it was criminal and the Appellee deeply regrets it. No one disputes the fact that the Appellee developed a strong paternal bond with the teenagers, notwithstanding their behavior.

It should be noted, that although the Appellant claims the Appellee was exercising custodial authority over the juveniles, that is inaccurate. He may have been viewed as a surrogate parent, but he was not in loco parentis with the teenagers. They invariably drove their motorcycles home to their mothers after

being "beaten" and voluntarily returned when the occasion arose again. Furthermore, the Appellee does not know where the Appellant received it's information that the Appellee's acts were premeditated plans of assault, or how that assertion is supported by the record.

The Appellant challenges the sufficiency of the evidence regarding personal and emotional problems. As a practical matter, Appellee moved for a change of venue to Jacksonville (Record, Motion For Change of Venue) and filed a Motion to Transport (Record, Motion to Transport) when it appeared the hearing was to be held in absentia. The Referee never ruled on the former and the ruling on the latter was never disclosed to the Respondent, apparently for security purposes. He was transported and held incommunicado until shortly before the hearing. There was no time to summon witnesses in the traditional manner. The hearing was also only scheduled for one hour. The Appellee put on the best case he could under the limitations placed upon him.

Regarding the Appellant's argument that the juveniles were clients of the Appellee or this misconduct was somehow related to the practice of law, the evidence is to the contrary. It is true that the Appellee appeared in open court on behalf of one teenager upon his arrest for the aforementioned felony charges. The Appellee retained a criminal attorney for the teenager and

testified as a character witness for him. His mother feared he would be incarcerated due to his previous record of shooting into an occupied dwelling. The Appellee also assisted in supervising his "little brother" while he performed community service as a result of his theft arrest. It is true that the Appellee did locate out of state assets belonging to his "little brother's" deadbeat father, and asserted a lien for child support arrearages of \$45,000. Upon realization and liquidation of those assets, the Appellee effected a settlement for the benefit of the teenager and his brother. The Appellee also secured medical expenses of \$5,000 from the school board when another teenager was seriously injured at school. Of course, he charged no fee for this. That is the extent to which the teenagers or their mothers were clients of the Appellee.

Finally, the Appellee is offended that the Appellant has chosen to belittle his military career by describing him as a mere "helicopter pilot". There are few lawyers in this state who have answered the call to duty more often than the Appellee.

The Supreme Court has the authority to consider factors that effect an attorney's character in mitigation. The Florida Bar v. Grosso, 647 So.2d 840, 841 (Fla. 1994). Although this factor is more extensively supported in the Referee's Report and Trial Brief, the Appellee would call attention to the some of these

character traits.

The Appellee is a Lieutenant Colonel Master Army Aviator, who spent five years on active duty before a devastating helicopter wreck crushed his vertabrae. After years of recovery, he was able to be reinstated to flight status and served fifteen years with the Florida National Guard. Since being admitted to the Bar, he was called to active duty as an executive officer of a AH64A Apache helicopter battalion during Desert Storm. He was the commander of the most decorated aviation unit in the country. He was designated air mission commander for all rescue (active and reserve) helicopter support in Miami during the Hurricane Andrew relief effort. He flew Governor Chiles and his party throughout the Panhandle on a UH60 Blackhawk helicopter after Hurricane Opel. He deployed to Honduras with the 7th Special Forces Group (Green Berets) to perform aviation humanitarian relief there. Flying in 1/8th mile visibility, he spent weeks flying sixteen hour days to save the lives and property of Florida citizens during the Volusia County fires. His military awards include the Meritorious Service Medal, Florida Distinguished Service Medal (Florida's second highest award)(two awards), Army Commendation Medal, Humanitarian Service Medal, and National Defense Service Medal. Additionally, he has been awarded the State Active Duty Award three times.



He was an adjunct professor of aviation law at Embry Riddle Aeronautical University and lectured for the Florida Bar's Bridge the Gap seminar in Jacksonville. He made frequent television commercials for the Big Brothers Agency and appeared on the front page of Jacksonville's local newspaper on behalf of the program. He successfully matched numerous children with other Army pilots including one of the teenager's young sibling. A "Big Brother" for ten years, he had two previous "little brothers", one of whom testified on his behalf. The oldest is a soldier at Fort Campbell, Kentucky who offered to travel back if necessary.

The Appellant argues nothing short of disbarment will adequately serve the purpose of discipline enunciated in The Florida Bar v. Dubbeld, 594 So.2d 735, 737 (Fla. 1992).

The Referee correctly recognized that Bar discipline exists primarily to protect the public from unethical conduct that occurs in the course of an attorney's representation of a client Helinger at 995; The Florida Bar v. Krasnove, 697 So.2d 1208 (Fla. 1997). Misconduct occurring outside the practice of law or in which the attorney violates no duty to a client may be subject to lesser discipline. Helinger at 995-996. The Court in Helinger recognized that in criminal cases, discipline is administered in addition to what the criminal justice system already exacted. Id. Contrary to the Bar's reading of the case, that observation

serves as the basis to mitigate the discipline, not aggravate it.

Disbarment is an extreme form of discipline, and should be reserved only for the most egregious misconduct The Florida Bar v. Summers, 728 So.2d 739 (Fla. 1999). The extreme sanction should be imposed in those rare cases where rehabilitation is highly improbable. The Florida Bar v. Kassier, 711 So.2d 515, 517 (Fla. 1998). Rosen at 181-2. The Court considers it extreme and the ultimate penalty, akin to the death penalty in criminal proceedings. The Florida Bar v. Hirsch, 342 So.2d 970, 971 (Fla. 1977). It must be clear the lawyer is one who should never be at the Bar, otherwise suspension is preferable. The Florida Bar v. Penn, 421 So.2d 497, 501 (Fla. 1982). Finally it should never be decreed where any punishment less severe, such as suspension, would accomplish the end desired. The Florida Bar v. Blalock, 302 So.2d 758, 760 (Fla. 1974)

"To deprive one of an office of this character would often be to decree poverty to himself and destitution to his family" id. quoting Bradley v. Fisher, 13 Wall. 335, 80 U.S. 335, 20 L.Ed. 646.

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